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Abstract

This study is devoted to the issue of legal education at the University of Olomouc in the period
from the 16" to the 19" century. The University was founded in the 16" century by the bishops of
Olomouc in cooperation with the Jesuit Order. Originally, it did not have an independent faculty
of law and law was taught privately at the expense of the Moravian Estates. In 1725, the Estates
Academy was founded in Olomouc to educate young noblemen, especially for the civil service
(officers, clerks). Lawyers associated with the University taught law at the academy. In 1784,
an independent faculty of law was established within the University (formally lyceum). Studies
spanned three years; from 1810 then four years. All basic law subjects were taught at the faculty.
Josef Vratislav Monse, a prominent Enlightenment scholar and lawyer, worked at the faculty.
However, in the middle of the 19" century, the faculty of law was abolished, as were most other
faculties.
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Streszczenie
Niniejsze opracowanie poswigcone jest zagadnieniu edukacji prawniczej na Uniwersytecie Oto-
munieckim w okresie od XVI do XIX w. Uniwersytet zostal zatozony w XVI w. przez bisku-
péw otomunieckich we wspolpracy z zakonem jezuitow. Poczatkowo nie posiadat niezalezne-
go wydzialu prawa, a prawo bylo nauczane prywatnie na koszt morawskich stanéow. W 1725 r.
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w Olomuncu zatozono Akademie Szlachecka, ktora ksztatcita mlodych szlachcicow, zwlaszcza
na potrzeby stuzby cywilnej (oficerow, urzednikéw). W akademii wyktadali prawo prawnicy
zwigzani z uniwersytetem. W 1784 r. w ramach uniwersytetu (formalnie lyceum) utworzono nie-
zalezny wydzial prawa. Studia trwaly trzy lata, a od 1810 r. cztery lata. Na wydziale wyktadano
wszystkie podstawowe przedmioty prawnicze. Na wydziale pracowat Josef Vratislav Monse, wy-
bitny o$wieceniowy uczony i prawnik. Jednak w potowie XIX w. wydzial prawa zostat zlikwido-
wany, podobnie jak wiekszos¢ innych wydziatow.

Stowa kluczowe
edukacja, uniwersytet, historia prawa, Morawy

Legal studies in the Czech lands in the Middle Ages were briefly taught at the
oldest Czech university in Prague, which was founded by the decision of the Roman
Emperor and Bohemian King Charles IV in 1348. In 1372, a separate law university
was established in Prague. However, it ceased to exist at the beginning of the Hussite
Revolution and the restoration of legal studies did not take place until the middle of
the 17" century. The history of legal education in the city of Olomouc and the history
of the second oldest university in the Czech lands are then inseparably linked to the
bishops of Olomouc'. This study focuses on the fundamental issues surrounding
the establishment of legal studies at the University of Olomouc, within the broader
context of legal development in Moravia during the 16" century. The study em-
phasises the importance of the bishops of Olomouc, who were often educated in
law, as founders of the university. The rather difficult and long-lasting process of
implementing legal education is also described. Finally, the study also addresses the
establishment of an independent faculty of law in Olomouc.

1. The educated bishops of Olomouc and the beginnings
of the University in Olomouc

The bishopric of Olomouc was one of the most important institutions in Moravia
since the Middle Ages. The legal status of the Olomouc bishopric within Moravia and
the entire Bohemian Crown was based on a number of privileges that the bishops ob-
tained as early as in the 12" and 13" centuries. The bishopric was able to maintain its po-
sition even after the Hussite Revolution in the 15" century. The bishops benefited from
the long crisis of the Prague archbishopric in the 16" century, which helped to make the

' J. Kejt, Déjiny prazské pravnické univerzity, Karolinum, Praha 1995; idem, Prazskda pravnicka
Sfakulta a pravnicka univerzita, [in:] M. Svatos (ed.) et al., Déjiny Univerzity Karlovy. I. 1347/48—1622,
Karolinum, Praha 1995, pp. 163—182.
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bishops of Olomouc the key spiritual authority of the country. Also, their good relations
with the ruling family (the bishops were often advisers to the Czech kings and diplomats
in their service) helped towards their exceptional position within the country?.

The bishop of Olomouc was also an ex officio of the provincial court and a reg-
ular participant in Provincial Diets. The bishops of Olomouc were often among the
most educated members of the Estates in Moravia, even in the matter of domestic pro-
vincial law, which was not taught at universities. Some bishops were also active in the
development of domestic legislation. For instance, the Cracow-born Stanislav Thurzo
(c. 1470-1540) was a royal commissioner at the Provincial Diet in 1516, which ap-
proved the first Moravian provincial code (Landesordnung). From 1520, Thurzo also
headed a commission that prepared the next provincial code (published in 1535)°.

The origins of the University of Olomouc are linked to the Bishop of Olomouc,
Vilém Prusinovsky of Vickov (1565-1572), who studied in Vienna with the Jesuits
and went on to study law at the University of Padua®. In his politics, Bishop Prusi-
novsky took a strongly anti-Reformation stance associated with the application of
the decrees of the Council of Trent. He was well aware of the strength of the Jesuit
educational system and of the limits imposed on his anti-Reformation efforts by the
lack of educated priests®. Likewise, the bishop needed educated officials to defend

2 V. Medek, Cesta ceské a moravské cirkve staletimi, Ustfedni cirkevni nakladatelstvi, Praha 1982;
K. Pohl, Beitrdge zur Geschichte der Bischdfe von Olmiitz im Mittelalter, Printed doctoral thesis, Bre-
slau 1940; J. Valka, Déjiny Moravy, II. Morava reformace, renesance a baroka, Muzejni a vlastivéd-
na spolecnost, Brno 1995, pp. 50-52, 79-81; T. Baletka, Dviir olomouckého biskupa Stanislava Thur-
za (1497-1540), jeho kancelar a sprava biskupskych statkii “Sbornik archivnich praci” 2004, nr 54,
pp- 3-236; D. Janis, Konfesijni poméry na Moraveé a viloha olomouckého biskupstvi, [in:] J. Mikulec et al.,
Cirkev a spolecnost raného novovéku v Cechdch a na Moravé, Historicky tistav, Praha 2013, pp. 309-360.

3 J. JaniSova, D. Jani$, Moravska zemska ziizeni a kodifikace zemského prava ve stiredni Evropé
v 16. a na zacatku 17. stoleti, Scriptorium, Praha 2016, pp. 125-128; F. Cada (ed.), Zemské ziizeni
moravské z roku 1535 spolu s tiskem z roku 1562 nové vydanym, Ceska akademie véd a uméni, Praha
1937, pp. XXVI-LIL

* F. Kamenicek, Zemské snémy a sjezdy moravské. Jejich sloZeni, obor piisobnosti a viznam od nas-
toupeni na trun krale Ferdinanda I. az po vydani Obnoveného ziizeni zemského (1526—1628), Vol. 111,
Zemsky vybor Markrabstvi moravského, Brno 1905, p. 12; O. Jakubec, Kulturni prostredi a mecendt
olomouckych biskupui potridentské doby, Univerzita Palackého, Olomouc 2003, p. 45; B. Navratil,
Vilém Prusinovsky do roku 1565, “Cesky &asopis historicky” 1899, nr 5, pp. 205-216.

5 J. Holinkova, K pocdtkiim vysokého uceni v Olomouci v 16. Stoleti, “Sbornik Vlastivédné
spolec¢nosti muzejni v Olomouci” 1973, nr 62, pp. 150-158; K. Valentova, Vychova a vzdélavani
mladeze, [in:] I. Cornejova, J.M. Havlik, J. Hrdli¢ka (eds.), Telc a jezuité. Rdd a jeho mecendsi. Katalog
vystavy, Historicky ustav AV CR, Praha 2020, pp. 167—178; I. Fiala, Olomoucti jezuité a jejich skoly,
[in:] O. Jakubec, M. Periitka, I. Bortlova (eds.), Olomoucké baroko. Vytvarna kultura let 1620—1780.
3, Historie a kultura, Muzeum uméni, Olomouc 2011, pp. 66—82; P. Voit, Vztah olomoucké cenzury z let
1567-1568 k domdacim literarnim tendencim, “Vlastivédny véstnik moravsky” 1987, nr 39, pp. 209—
219; O. Jakubec, Kulturni prostredi..., pp. 46-51.
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episcopal interests against the Moravian Estates. In 1566, Bishop Prusinovsky called
two members of the Viennese Jesuit college to Olomouc, who began teaching at the
cathedral school at the church of St. Wenceslaus in Olomouc. In a very short time,
the Jesuits began to build a college with a junior preparatory school. This plan was
also approved by Pope Pius V, who at the same time undertook to confirm the col-
lege’s customary privileges. Bishop Prusinovsky provided finances for the college,
donated part of his library there, while expressing the hope that the college gradually
expands so that a university with proper teaching of philosophy and theology could
be established®. The bishop supported gifted students and as a personal benefactor
paid for the education of a gifted Moravian nobleman Mikulas of Hradek, who con-
verted from Unitas Fratrum to the Catholic faith in order to have better access to the
authorities. The bishop had originally intended for him to pursue an ecclesiastical ca-
reer (he had him study humanities with the Jesuits in Olomouc and Vienna, and then
even philosophy at the University of Dillingen). Mikulas eventually became Moravi-
an sub-chamberlain and effectively defended the interests of the Olomouc bishopric’.

The efforts of the Bishop of Olomouc, Vilém Prusinovsky, were ultimately suc-
cessful. In 1573, Pope Gregory XIII and subsequently Emperor Maximilian II con-
firmed the rights of the Jesuit college as a university. Teaching began in 1576 with
lectures in philosophy. The Olomouc Academy was not yet a full-fledged university
according to the rules of the Jesuit order. It did not include full teaching of theolo-
gy. This changed in 1582, when lectures in this field were given®. Among the sup-
porters of the Olomouc college was also the Moravian sub-chamberlain and future
Landeshauptmann Hanu$ Haugvic of Biskupice, who in 1577 demanded that a law
and medical faculty be established in Olomouc. However, the Jesuits refused, as both

disciplines were not a usual part of the teaching in Jesuit academies.

¢ J. Navratil (ed.) et al., Kapitoly z déjin olomoucké university 1573—1973, Profil, Ostrava 1973,
pp. 11-12; F. Santavy, E. Hosek, Organizace, peceti a insignie olomoucké univerzity v letech 1573—1973,
Univerzita Palackého, Olomouc 1980, pp. 17-20; V. NeSpor, Déjiny University olomoucké, Narodni vy-
bor hlavniho mésta Olomouce, Olomouc 1947, pp. 14-26; L. Vesela, Knihovny olomouckych kanovnikii
v letech 1565—1642, “Opera historica” 2023, nr 24, p. 9; Z. Orlita, Olomouckd univerzitni knihovna
od svého zalozeni do zruSent jezuitského radu (1566-1773), [in:] M. Korhon, T. Vintrova (eds.), Chram
ved a muz. Déjiny Védecké knihovny v Olomouci, Védecka knihovna v Olomouci, Olomouc 2016, p. 14.

7 H. Stépanova Seichterova, Urad podkomoiiho na Moravé v 16. a na pocatku 17. stoleti, Matice
moravska, Brno — Olomouc, 2024, pp. 113-130; O. Jakubec, Kulturni prostredi..., pp. 60-61. Cf.
M. Koutil, Moravsti slechtici na olomoucké univerzité do konce 17. stoleti, [in:] E. Kordiovsky, M. Ze-
mek (eds.), Pokrokové kulturni proudy na jizni Moravé v poslednich 350 letech (XI. Mikulovské sympo-
zium), TEPS, Praha 1982, pp. 169-171.

8 J. Navratil (ed.) et al., Kapitoly..., pp. 12-13; V. Nespor, Déjiny..., pp. 17-19; F. Santavy,
E. Hosek, Organizace..., pp. 17-20 (the text of the charter of Maximilian II of 1573).
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In 1579, Stanislav Pavlovsky of Pavlovice (1579-1598), a native of Silesian
Pavlovice and a strong supporter of the Olomouc Jesuits, became bishop of Olo-
mouc. Pavlovsky was a well-educated lawyer who studied philosophy and theology
at the famous Roman Collegium Germanicum and received a doctorate in ecclesias-
tical law there in 1574. Pavlovsky is the first bishop to be commemorated with the
title protector academiae, reflecting his position as a founder and true protector and
promoter of this higher learning’. Bishop Pavlovsky was an able lawyer and diplo-
mat and was also extremely successful in promoting the interests of the bishopric
within the framework of Moravian provincial law. In 1588, he succeeded in per-
suading Emperor Rudolf II to restore the title of prince to the bishops of Olomouc.
In the same way, he secured the imperial privilege in 1581, which de facto completed
the Olomouc University in legal terms. The privilege confirmed earlier privileges
and extended the graduation law'’. Bishop Pavlovsky, like his predecessors on the
Olomouc episcopal see, had very good contacts with the Polish milieu!'!. This was re-
flected in the presence of many Polish students in Olomouc. Bishop Pavlovsky sup-
ported the study of Poles in Olomouc, especially if they were nobility. The greatest
influx of Polish students was in 1590-1592, when more than forty people gradually
enrolled to study — 1590 (23), 1591 (12), 1592 (22)".

In Olomouc, however, not all subjects were taught yet at the university and not all
faculties existed. The Jesuits sought to establish faculties of science, theology, law and

> V. Nespor, Déjiny..., pp. 20-21, 24-34; Z. Kristen, K pocdtkiim vysokého uceni v Olomouci,
“Sttedni Morava. Kulturng-historick4 revue” 1966, pp. 19-36; H. Stépanova Seichterova, Urad pod-
komoriho..., pp. 104-112; J. JaniSova, In medium quaesita reponunt (Déjiny pravniho vzdélavani
na olomoucké univerzité), [in:] 20 let obnovené pravnické fakulty olomoucké univerzity, Univerzita
Palackého, Olomouc 2011, p. 10; O. Jakubec, Kulturni prostiedi..., pp. 59-60.

10 J. Panek, Olomoucky biskup Stanislav Pavlovsky z Pavlovic. Duchovni knize na prahu reka-
tolizace Ceskych zemi, [in:] O. Jakubec (ed.), Stanislav Paviovsky z Pavlovic (1579-1598). Biskup
a mecenas umirajictho véku, Muzeum uméni Olomouce, Olomouc 2009, pp. 15-31; V. Nespor, De-
Jjiny..., pp. 19-20; 1. Stépéan, Dviir olomouckého biskupa Stanislava Pavlovského z Pavlovic v letech
1579—-1598, Danal, Olomouc 2009; O. Jakubec, Kulturni prostiedi... pp. 59—64; J. JaniSova, Privile-
gium Rudolfa II. pro olomoucké biskupstvi z roku 1590 (Pravni argumentace biskupa Stanislava Pav-
lovského), “Folia Historica Bohemica” 2012, nr 27, pp. 41-43; K. Miiller, Privilegium Rudolfa II. pro
olomoucké biskupy z r. 1588, “Zpravodaj klubu genealogi a heraldikti Ostrava” 1988, nr 36, pp. 11-14.

11 7. Stépéan, Cesta olomouckého biskupa Viléma Prusinovského z Vickova do Polska v roce
1569, “Olomoucky archivni sbornik” 2007, nr 5, pp. 56-86; J. Panek, Prelat jako prostiednik mezi
dvema narody (Postaveni olomouckého biskupa Stanislava Paviovského v cesko—polskych vztazich
na sklonku 16. stoleti, [in:] T. Borovsky, L. Jan, M. Wihoda (eds.), 4d vitam et honorem. Profesoru
Jaroslavu Meznikovi pratelé a zZaci k pétasedmdesdatym narozenindam, Matice moravska, Brno 2003,
pp. 351-361.

12 In total, 386 Polish students studied in Olomouc between 1576 and 1675. Almost 200 of them
were Polish nobles. (A. Grobelny, Polsti a rusti studenti na olomoucké univerzité v I. 15761663,
Slezsky studijni ustav, Opava 1954, pp. 6-22).
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medicine. Likewise, the jurisdiction over students was to be determined and graduates
were to be considered ennobled persons, even if they were not born noble. However,
these efforts were not fulfilled and the monarch did not issue further privileges. In
1588, the student Martin Molitor was unjustly imprisoned by the Olomouc bailiff. This
fact provoked protests from the students. On the basis of the rector’s complaint, Bishop
Pavlovsky issued an order for the students of the University of Olomouc, which was
to exclude future conflicts with the jurisdiction of the city. In civil disputes, students
were to be tried by the rector and officiating clerk, and in criminal cases by an academ-
ic judge (coram iudice ordinario academiae)™. This judge was to be chosen by the
bishop from among the lay nobility. The first academic judge was a person who was
not only connected with the episcopal administration, but also had a strong interest
in the running of provincial law. He was the Vicegerent to the High Provincial Scribe
of the Margraviate of Moravia, Jan Horecky of Horka. As a provincial official, he un-
doubtedly had a good background for judging students. In 1584, Horecky was, among
others, editing the text of the provincial code and preparing its new re-codification'.
Between 1586 and 1588, Bishop Stanislav Pavlovsky sought to complete the
original plan of his predecessor, Bishop Vilém Prusinovsky, to turn the Olomouc
Academy into a full university with all faculties, including the theological, legal and
medical faculty. However, the bishop and the Olomouc chapter soon came into con-
flict with the Jesuits. In particular, the Jesuits’ ability to build a theological faculty
was questioned. The establishment of a law and medical faculty was said to be out
of the question, since the Jesuits did not have their own teachers for these fields and

none of the secular professors would be willing to submit to their strict regulations!'.

2. The beginnings of legal studies before the establishment
of a separate faculty

In the 1620s, the political situation in the Czech lands changed significantly. The
Bohemian Estates rebelled against the monarch (1618), and Moravia also joined this
resistance (1619). At the time of the Revolt in Moravia (1619—1620), the universi-

13 J. Navrétil (ed.) et al., Kapitoly..., pp. 13; J. JaniSova, In medium..., pp. 10—12.

14 Narodni knihovna Praha [National Library Prague], Oddéleni rukopist a starych tiski [Depart-
ment of Manuscripts and Rare Books], sg. 65 E 2878, Snémovni artikule 13. ¢ervence 1584 Olomouc
[Printed conclusions of the Provincial Diet 13. 6. 1584], fol. 8r; J. JaniSova, The Minor Provincial
Court of the Margraviate of Moravia in the 16" Century (Genesis — Office and Officials — Judicial
Agenda), “Zeitschrift fir Neuere Rechtsgeschichte” 2024, nr 46, pp. 7-8.

5 V. Nespor, Déjiny..., pp. 23-25, 33-34.
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ty was closed because the Jesuits were expelled from the country. The Revolt was
defeated in 1620, however, and as early as January 1621, some members of the Ol-
omouc college returned to the city and the university was restored. Another closure
of the University due to the war then occurred in 1643—1650, as the city of Olomouc
was occupied by Swedish troops'®.

The Jesuits managed to significantly expand the income of the academy by gain-
ing confiscated or later acquired estates, which allowed for a relatively large-scale
construction activity and the building of a large campus in Olomouc during the
second half of the 17" and early 18" centuries. The theological faculty offered a four-
year study from 1630, later a six-year study. Canon law was taught only to a small
extent. By 1725, the faculty of theology had a total of 20 professors of canon law
from the Jesuit Order. Only the competition of secular law professors led the Jesuits
to deepen the teaching of canon law. The first doctorate in canon law was awarded
at the theological faculty in 1721 to Vaclav Frantisek of Kosin, who was a canon of
Olomouc and appointed bishop of Hradec Kralové.

The commencement of legal studies at the University of Olomouc is associated
with 1679, when Karel Ferdinand Irmler, a native of Olomouc and a doctor of law,
who had previously taught law privately in Vienna, began to lecture at the Univer-
sity. The faculty of law still did not exist and canon law was taught at the faculty of
theology. Irmler taught canon and civil (i.e. Roman) law in Olomouc, but outside the
theological faculty. He was appointed by the Moravian Estates for three years. Irmler
taught privately in his apartment and only to students who had been properly matric-
ulated at the University of Olomouc. At that time, a total of six law students were
matriculated, later there were around twenty. However, the Jesuits perceived the ac-
tion of a secular professor as a significant interference with their rights. The disputes
between Irmler and the rector led the Estates to ban his teaching of canon law and he
could continue to teach only civil (Roman) law according to his own theses.

In 1691, the Moravian Estates appointed as Irmler’s successor the doctor of both
laws, Jifi Tobias Alberti, who in October 1692 received permission from Emperor
Leopold to lecture publicly on law (lectio publica jurium). Alberti became a full
member of the university upon entry into the registry. He was paid by the Estates.
He, too, however, also had to lecture and conduct disputations only in his flat. In
1695, after repeated disputes with the Jesuits, he left the University. He was replaced

16 J. Valka, Déjiny Moravy..., pp. 90-100; J. Navratil (ed.) et al., Kapitoly..., p. 13; V. Ne$por,
Déjiny..., p. 34; 1. Schulz (ed.) et al., Déjiny Olomouce. 1. vol., Univerzita Palackého, Olomouc 2009,
pp. 334-367.
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in the same year by Krystof Josef Hollandt, who, in addition to Roman law (Institu-
tion and Pandectes), also lectured on canon law. He therefore got into long-standing
disputes with the Jesuits, who claimed to teach canon law at the theological school.
The royal tribunal, however, confirmed him this right, which belonged to all profes-
sors at the University. However, poor health put an end to Hollandt’s activities in
1705. Hollandt produced a commentary on the Justinian Institutions (Examen juri-
dicum in quatuor Institutionum imperialium libros per quaestiones et responsiones
methodo theoretica deductum in gratiam cupidae legum juventutis, Olomouc 1711;
Vienna 1727)".

The work of other professors was also marked by constant struggles with the
Jesuits. Lectures by professors lecturing on law were held in the old provincial court-
room. The building was constructed by the Moravian Estates in 1570-1571 and its
walls were decorated with 28 coats of arms of officials and judges belonging to the
provincial court. The building was located on the premises of the Dominican Monas-
tery of St. Michael in Olomouc, where the Provincial Diet and the court had tradition-
ally met since the Middle Ages. After the defeat of the Estates’ Revolt, however, the
agenda of both institutions was moved to Brno and the building found another use'®.

Disputes between secular professors and Jesuits were settled by the royal tribu-
nal. The tribunal identified the Jesuit order as the culprits of the situation and even
recommended that the teaching of law be moved to Brno. However, the monarch
disagreed and in 1714 decided that professors of law should attend all public meet-
ings and festivities held by the University. A professor of law should have been duly
matriculated in the general registry of the University. In 1714, a separate law registry
was established called Prima nova specialis matricula. At that time, 48 law students

were enrolled®.

17 Ch. d"Elvert, Geschichte der Studien-, Schul- und Erziehnungs-Anstalten in Mdhren und Osterr.
Schlesien, insbesondere der olmiitzer Universitdt, in den neueren Zeiten, R. Rohrer, Briinn 1857,
pp- 1-6; J. Navratil (ed.) et al., Kapitoly..., p. 39; J. JaniSova, In medium..., pp. 12—-14; V. Nespor,
Déjiny..., p. 41-42; H. Jire¢ek, Pravnicky zivot v Cechach a na Moravé v tisicileté dobé od konce IX.
do konce XIX. stoleti. H. Jire¢ek, Praha — Brno 1903, pp. 422.

8 J. JaniSova, Heraldische Denkmdler in der Zeit der Stindemonarchie im Spiegel der Quellen
des mdhrischen Landrechts, “Archiv fiir Diplomatik, Schriftgeschichte, Siegel- und Wappenkunde”
2024, nr 70, pp. 408—413; Ch. d'Elvert, Die Landhduser in Olmiitz und Briinn, “Notizen-Blatt der his-
torisch-statistischen Section der k.k. Méahrisch-schlesischen Gesellschaft zur Beférderung des Acker-
baues, der Natur- und Landeskunde”, 1859, nr 6, pp. 41-44; P. Mat’a, Stuben und Séle. Symbolische
Kommunikation und politische Kultur in den stindischen Versammlungsrdumen der Habsburgermon-
archie in der Friihen Neuzeit, Bohlau, Wien 2024, pp. 283— 288.

19 Ch. d"Elvert, Geschichte..., pp. 7-9; V. Nespor, Déjiny..., pp. 4243, 53; J. Navratil (ed.) et al.,
Kapitoly..., p. 40.
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The existence of the study of law at the University of Olomouc, although not
yet realised in a separate faculty, was of great importance for the establishment of
a special so-called Estates Academy (Collegium Nobilium Olomucensis) intended
for the education of young noblemen. It was established in 1725. According to a pro-
posal from 1724, the so-called Estates Academy was to be part of the University
and was to teach law, horse riding, weapons training, dancing, languages, as well
as knowledge of geometry, geography and civil and military engineering. The pur-
pose of this education was to train suitable persons for the civil service, especially
officers and engineers. The Jesuits, however, strongly opposed the establishment of
the Estates Academy and forbade their students to attend the so-called Estates Acad-
emy. Charles VI’s authorisation of 1725, establishing the so-called Estates Academy,
included the monarch’s recommendation that public law should be taught alongside
civil and canon law, based on the writings of Hugo Grotius. The Emperor eventually
ordered the Jesuits not to prohibit secular students from attending the Estates Acade-
my. In 1815, the subjects taught were also expanded to include the Czech language,
as it was important for civil servants. The Olomouc Estates Academy was thus the
only school in Moravia to teach Czech as an independent subject. The Estates Acad-
emy was transferred to Brno in 1847%.

The establishment of the Estates Academy and the interest of the Moravian
Estates in the teaching of law was also reflected in the new organisation of law
studies at the University of Olomouc. In 1732, two more professorships were es-
tablished and all three professors of law were to teach at the university and at the
Estates Academy. The first in order of rank was the professor of public law (pro-
fessor iuris publici), who also taught Justinian’s Codex, followed by two ordinary
professors (primarius or rather secundarius professor iuris ordinarius), the first of
whom taught Digest and the second Institutions. In 1734, the latter was ordered to
also teach criminal law according to Joseph I Code of Criminal Procedure of 1708.
The study of law in Olomouc remained incomplete, as the three professors did not
form an independent faculty (formally they were considered part of the theological
faculty), they did not have a dean and, above all, it was not possible to award aca-

20 J. Kapras, Déjiny prdavntho studia na moravské université v Olomouci, [in:] Pamdtnik Spolku
Ceskych pravnikic Vsehrd 1868-1918, Spolek Vsehrd, Praha 1918, pp. 63-64; Ch. d’Elvert, Ges-
chichte..., pp. 9—13; V. Nespor, Déjiny..., pp. 174-191; J. Fiala, Telesnd cviceni na stavovské akademii
v Olomouci (1727-1846), “KROK. Kulturni revue Olomouckého kraje” 2020, nr 17, pp. 36—41; J. KSir,
Prvni budova stavovské akademie v Olomouci, “Sbornik Matice moravské” 1964, nr 83, pp. 294-303;
J. Radimsky, Pocet zactva na stavovské akademii v Olomouci pred sto lety, “Vlastivédny véstnik mora-
vsky” 1947, nr 2, p. 251.
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demic degrees, albeit the teaching of law was an integral part of the University and
lawyers had their own registry. Around 1740, there were about 50—60 law students
at the University?'.

During the reign of Maria Theresa, a number of educational reforms were
carried out, which brought about significant state intervention in the running of
universities, including changes in the method and content of teaching. A special
imperial commission in 1746 proposed a reform of studies at the University of
Olomouc, including the extension of the law course to four years and the estab-
lishment of a separate faculty of law. However, the changes affected only the study
of theology and philosophy, and the study of law was less favourable. In 1754, the
central Moravian authorities even declared the Olomouc law school to be a col-
legium privatum, as it was financed by the Moravian Estates. A year later, the
Empress decided that an independent faculty of law would not be established due
to their insufficient number in the monarchy. The importance of the Olomouc law
school was also diminished by a decree of 1755, according to which in Moravia
and Silesia only persons who had received a full legal education at the universities
of Prague, Vienna, Freiburg or Innsbruck were allowed to become lawyers or hold
other clerical positions with a legal qualification. Graduates of incomplete studies
in Olomouc were thus only qualified for lower-level clerical positions, and inter-
est in studying here therefore declined.

In 1755, the content of legal studies in Olomouc was newly established. Natu-
ral law and international law (ius naturae et gentium) were to be taught according
to the writings of P.R. Vitrario (1683) and H. Grotius, as well as public law and
German imperial history (ius publicum Imperii et historiam Imperii Romano-Ger-
manici) according to J.J. Mascow. Civil (Roman) law and canon law were also
lectured on according to the works of J.K. Schambogen (commentary on the Insti-
tutions) and H. Zoesius (commentary on the Digest and commentary on the Decre-
tals of Pope Gregory 1X). The outline of the subjects was thus fixed and the lecturer
was not allowed to deviate from the prescribed textbook. Teaching was still private,
and lectures were always held in the morning between 7 and 11 o’clock, except on
Thursdays, Sundays, and public holidays; in the afternoon the students held prac-
tice with the city lawyers. In each year the instruction was for seven months only,
from 1756 onwards for ten months, and the whole course of study was three years.

21 J. Navratil (ed.) et al., Kapitoly..., p. 40; J. Kapras, Déjiny..., pp. 64—65; V. Ne$por, Déjiny...,
pp. 63-65; Ch. d’Elvert, Geschichte..., pp. 25-30.
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From 1751, a list of public and private lectures by all the professors of the Univer-
sity was published in print for both upcoming semesters®.

The development of legal education in Prague was similar. Following the dis-
solution of the original law faculty around 1419, the University of Prague was left
without this type of faculty for over 200 years. The university was controlled by
non-Catholics until 1620 and played an active role in the Bohemian Revolt. For this
reason, Emperor Ferdinand II., formally closed the university and handed it over
to the Jesuit order in 1622%. The Jesuits founded their own (Ferdinand’s) academy
(academia) in Prague in 1562. Its activities were later confirmed in several monar-
chical privileges (1567, 1581 and 1616). Within this academy, there were faculties
of arts and theology, where canon law was taught, albeit not in its entirety. The Je-
suits did not establish separate faculties of law in their own schools, which is con-
sistent with the situation in Olomouc®. In 1622, Charles University merged with
the Jesuit Academy, a union that lasted until 1638. The two schools were separate
again between 1638 and 1654, when they were finally merged into Charles-Ferdinand
University. The faculty of law was founded in 1624 and was organisationally linked
to the old Charles University as it employed secular professors and enjoyed strong
royal support. Initially, the faculty taught ecclesiastical, Roman and town law. The
deans and professors had close ties with the provincial and court authorities, and
these connections were further solidified during the 18"-century Enlightenment re-
forms initiated by the Habsburg monarchs. In 1754, a royal decree amended and
supplemented the curriculum to include criminal, feudal, state (constitutional)
and procedural law, in addition to canon and Roman law. History, geography, her-

aldry and basic statistics were also taught®.

2 J. Padrnosovéa, Marie Terezie a Skolstvi [in:] K. Mlatedek, T. Cernusak (eds.), Morava jako
soucast ceského statu. Spolecny vyvoj od stredovéku do 20. stoleti. Udalosti, jevy, osobnosti, Morav-
sky zemsky archiv v B¢, Brno 2018, pp. 33—44; V. Nespor, Déjiny..., p. 64—65; 68; J. JaniSova,
In medium..., pp. 15-17; J. Valka, Déjiny Moravy..., pp. 166-172; J. Kapras, Déjiny..., pp. 65-66;
J. Navrétil (ed.) et al., Kapitoly..., p. 40.

2 M. Svato§, Pokus o reformu a zanik karolinské akademie, [in:] M. Svato§ (ed.) et al., Déjiny
Univerzity Karlovy. I. 1347/48—1622, Karolinum, Praha 1995, pp. 269-289.

2 1. Cornejova, Jezuitskd akademie do roku 1622, [in:] M. Svatos (ed.) et al., Déjiny Univerzity
Karlovy. I. 1347/48—1622, Karolinum, Praha 1995, pp. 247-250.

5 1. Cornejové, Spravni a instituciondlni vyvoj prazské univerzity (Vztah univerzity k panovnikovi,
statnim a zemskym organiim), [in:] 1. Cornejové (ed.) et al., D&jiny Univerzity Karlovy. II. 1622—1802,
Karolinum, Praha 1995, pp. 23-56; K. Beranek, Pravnickad fakulta, [in:] I. Cornejové (ed.) et al., Dé-
Jjiny Univerzity Karlovy. II. 1622—1802, Karolinum, Praha 1995, pp. 137-163; J. Petran, Kazdodennost
pravnického studia prvnich generaci Karlo-Ferdinandovy university, [in:] L. Soukup (ed.), Pocta prof.
JUDr. Karlu Malému, DrSc., k 65. narozeninam, Karolinum, Praha 1995, pp. 182—-197.
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3. Faculty of Law between 1784 and 1855

After the abolition of the Jesuit order in 1773, the University was changed to
a state university. Internal disputes and confusion at the university led to the decision
to move the university to Brno in 1777. The University then existed in Brno from 1778
to 1782. In fact, the University was abolished and a lyceum was established, because
according to Joseph II’s decree of 1782 there were to be universities only in Vienna,
Prague and Lviv. The temporary move to Brno paradoxically helped law studies. In
1778, a directorate of law studies was established at the Olomouc lyceum. The pro-
fessors of law thus formed a separate college (corpus iuridicum) and were completely
separated from the theological faculty of the lyceum. However, they still did not have
their own dean and did not form an independent faculty. This occurred after the re-
sumption of studies in Olomouc. The faculty of law was established in 1784%.

The surviving annual printed lecture programmes of the Olomouc lyceum show
that the content of legal studies was subject to continuous changes. However, the ba-
sis of the teaching remained natural law, Roman law, taught in two separate courses
(Institutions and History of Roman Law; Digest), as well as two courses devoted to
public law (ius publicum universale — theoretical foundations of the doctrine of the
state; ius publicum particulare — state law with a focus on the German lands), feudal
law and ecclesiastical law. At this time, there was also a change in language, with
German being promoted as the language of instruction alongside the older Latin.
Subjects in Roman and canon law continued to be taught in Latin, while others were
taught in German. This linguistic division corresponded to the nature of the given
subjects and the language of the official textbooks and handbooks?’.

In 1773, a department of political and chamber sciences was established. It was
originally part of the faculty of arts, and lectures were also intended for students
of theology and law. In 1784, it became part of the faculty of law. In 1778, Josef
Vratislav Monse (1733—1793) became the first director (director appointed by the
monarch) of the law school. He was undoubtedly one of the most important profes-

% J. Sotola, ZruSeni jezuitského Fddu a olomouckd univerzita, “Acta Universitatis Palackianae
Olomucensis. Facultas philosophica. Historica. Sbornik praci historickych” 2003, 31, pp. 165-178;
V. Nespor, Soumrak olomoucké university (1777-1778), “Vlastivédny véstnik moravsky” 1946, nr 1,
pp- 128-143, 179-192; J. Navratil (ed.) et al., Kapitoly..., p. 15-16; F. Jordan (ed.) et al., Déjiny uni-
versity v Brné, UJEP, Brno 1969, pp. 12-24.

27 Zemsky archiv Opava, poboc¢ka Olomouc [Provincial Archive of Opava, branch Olomouc, (here-
after cited as ZAO-0)], fond Univerzita Olomouc [Collection University of Olomouc (hereafter cited
as UO)], inv. n. 2184, box 544, Seznam osob a piednasek [List of persons and lectures]; inv. 726, book
n. 678, Katalog posluchact prava 1768—1786 [List of law students 1768—1786].
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sors who worked at the old Olomouc University (lyceum). He was a graduate of the
University of Prague (philosophy) and the University of Vienna (he graduated with
a doctorate in both laws in 1762). In 1764, he became a city lawyer in Olomouc and in
1767 a lawyer at the Consistory and Feudal Court of the Olomouc bishopric. Monse
was one of the most important representatives of the Enlightenment at the University
of Olomouc and in Moravia as a whole, and he was in contact or corresponded with
many prominent persons of his time. As a supporter of Josephinism, however, he
repeatedly clashed with opponents of the Enlightenment reforms, including Jesuits
and clergy from the Olomouc Chapter, including Archbishop A.T. Colloredo-Wald-
see. Monse was very active in science and literature and his works went beyond the
scope of legal science. In addition to his original works, he was also a translator and
supported the publication of a number of works to serve, among other things, the
needs of his students. Thus, he had the work of his teacher P.J. Riegger summarizing
the foundations of ecclesiastical law reprinted, and in 1773 he also published his
translation of the work of the Portuguese theologian A. Pereira.

The study of public law, especially the regulations of the current Moravian state
law, led Monse to an interest in Moravian legal history and Moravian history in
general. In 1776, he published in Olomouc a work entitled Tabula iuris publici Mar-
chionatus Moraviae. From 1783 to 1786, Monse even taught the foundations of
Moravian law as a separate subject ({us patrium Moraviae / Mdhrische Landesgeset-
ze). In 1783, he also published a manual on the subject entitled Leitfaden zu den Vor-
lesungen iiber die Landesgesetze des Markgrafthums Mdhren auf dem kaiserlichen
koniglichen Lycaeum zu Olmiitz. Monse believed that the study of Moravian legal
history necessarily required a good knowledge of political history and so in 1784 and
1788 he published two volumes of the History of Moravia. His interpretation, how-
ever, ended with the year 1306. Monse was also very interested in town law. In 1788,
he published a work on the earliest history of Brno town law and its legal circuit
(Uiber die dltesten Municipalrechte der konigl. Stadt Briinn und dessen Bezirks). In
his work, he examined, among other things, the Lawbook of the Brno municipality
scribe Jan from the mid-14% century and was the first to point out the text’s links to
Roman law. In several other works, Monse dealt with various topics of Moravian
history. In 1779, he published biographies of 25 Moravian bishops under the title
Infulae doctae Moraviae and an edition of twelve Latin letters from the correspond-
ence of the prominent Moravian nobleman and great expert on Moravian provincial
law, Charles the Elder of Zerotin (1 1636). Monse also dealt with the history of the
office of the Moravian Landeshauptmann and the Moravian provincial coat of arms.
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Monse was already regarded by his contemporaries as an important scientific
authority. In 1780, his career at the university culminated in his appointment as rec-
tor, and he subsequently became a member of several learned societies. His social
prestige was strengthened at the end of that year, when Emperor Josef II, in recogni-
tion of his many merits and loyalty to the imperial house, elevated him to the nobility
with the title of nobleman of Monse®.

At the turn of the 18" and 19" centuries, legal studies at the Olomouc Lyceum
continued to develop. Its expansion to a three-year course in 1792 reflected the in-
creased number of subjects taught. In the first year, natural law, general state and
national law and criminal law were taught, in the second year, subjects from civil
(Roman) law were taught, and in the third year, ecclesiastical law, political science
and the basics of the administrative structure of the various Austrian provinces were
taught. The introduction of a new curriculum in 1810 brought the extension of the
Juridisch-politische Studium, as the study of law was known at the time, to four
years. The basic timetable of courses remained unchanged until the end of the fac-
ulty’s existence, with the gradual addition of some specialised courses reflecting the
development of the Austrian legal system and various legal disciplines®.

At the beginning of the 19" century, the first year of the winter semester in-
cluded an “encyclopaedic introduction to the legal-political study of the Austrian
countries” and “European statistics” (a basic legal-political description of the var-
ious European countries), which constituted an introduction to the study of public
law, in particular. The summer semester then included general state law, crimi-
nal law and “statistics of the Austrian Empire”. In the second year of study, Roman
law was taught in the winter semester, public and private ecclesiastical law in the
summer semester, and the basics of economics in both semesters. In the third year,
Austrian civil law was taught for both semesters and for one semester each it was
the law of fiefs and the law of trade and bills of exchange. The fourth and final

28 J. Fiala, Moravsky osvicenec Josef Vratislav Monse (1733—1793), [in:] M. Malacka (ed.), Shornik
prispévkil z konference Monseho olomoucké pravnické dny, Univerzita Palackého, Olomouc 2006,
pp- 17-28; J. Fiala, M. Novéakova, Moravsky osvicenec J.V. Monse (1733—1793), Univerzita Palackého,
Olomouc 2003; J.L. Bily, Osobnost Josefa Vratislava Slechtice Monse a jeho prinos pro moravskou
pravni historii, [in:] M. Malacka (ed.), Sbornik prispévkii z konference Monseho olomoucké pravnicke
dny, Univerzita Palackého, Olomouc 2006, pp. 29-34; K. 74k, Narodni buditel PhDr. a JUDR. Josef
Vratislav §1. Monse, universitni profesor, roddk novoméstsky, K. Zak, Nové Mésto na Moravé 1933;
H. Jireéek, Prdavnicky zivot..., pp. 451-452; T. Knoz, Karel starsi ze Zerotina. Don Quijote v labyrintu
svéta, VySehrad, Praha 2008; F. Hradil, M. Mys$ak, Josef Vratislav slechtic z Monse a jeho nobilitacni
diplom, “Zpravy Vlastivédného muzea v Olomouci”, Rada spoledenské védy, 2012, nr 304, pp. 28—43.

2 V. Nespor, Déjiny..., pp. 101-102, 105-107; J. Navratil (ed.) et al., Kapitoly..., pp. 16-17;
J. Kapras, Déjiny..., pp. 67-69.
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year of study included “political science” in the winter semester (from today’s per-
spective, it was mainly selected questions of administrative and financial law) and
Austrian law in the summer semester, Geschdftsstil, a course on clerical (office)
practice, and finally “Austrian judicial procedure”, a course designed especially for
the careers of judges and lawyers™®.

The extant syllabi cite in detail for each subject the prescribed textbooks or rele-
vant regulations, according to which it was taught. Subjects were taught in German,
some of which were initially taught in Latin (Roman and ecclesiastical law). The
faculty had five (seven at the end of its existence) full professorships of law, who
were nominated by the Estates and appointed by the monarch. However, the relevant
appointment decrees were drawn up and delivered again by the Estates. In 1819,
a total of 107 lawyers studied at the Olomouc law faculty; from the 1830s onwards,
there were around 140 law students a year®'.

Legal studies in Olomouc underwent a rather dynamic development during the
first half of the 19" century. In the 1820s, there was a certain turnaround in the view
of the status of universities, and on the basis of an imperial decision of March 1827,
the lyceum in Olomouc became a university again, bearing the name of the reigning
Emperor Francis I. The restoration of the university was also very significant for the
faculty of law and politics, which was granted the right to graduate doctors and
the faculty thus gained full status after many years of effort. The independence of the
individual faculties was restored during the 1830s, when the deanships of the phi-
losophy and theology faculties were restored in 1831 and the law faculty in 1833,

The faculty of law was thus authorised to have its own insignia. During its exist-
ence, it even used two sceptres. The first, a sort of provisional one, was already given
in 1828. It was made of white sheet metal with the head depicting a two-headed im-
perial eagle. On the sceptre there was an inscription lustitia regnorum fundamentum
with the initials of Francis I dated 11 March 1827. In 1833, the Olomouc goldsmith
Weber made a new sceptre of silver and gold to match the sceptres used by the other
faculties®.

30 ZA0-0, UO, inv. n. 707, book n. 659, Kniha normalii o studiu na pravnické fakulté¢ 1803—1840
[Book of regulations on studying at the Faculty of Law 1803—1840].

31 ZAO-0, UO, inv. n. 711, book n. 663, Matrika profesorti a doktord prav 1827-1844 [Register
of professors and doctors of law 1827—-1844]; inv. n. 2184, box 544, Seznam osob a piednasek [List of
persons and lectures].

32 ZA0-0,UOQ, inv. n. 1107-1108, box 149-153, Spisy rektoratu Franti§kovi univerzity 1828-1829
[Files of the Rector’s Office of FrantiSek University 1828—1829]; V. NeSpor, Déjiny..., pp. 120-135;
J. Kapras, Déjiny..., p. 70.

33 F. Santavy, E. Hodek, Organizace..., pp. 77-83, 136-137.
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The year 1848 marked a significant change in the conditions at the university. In
March of that year, freedom of learning and teaching was proclaimed and universities
ceased to be subject to the provincial authorities (they were subordinated to the Ministry
of Public Instruction). There were no significant changes at the faculty of law at that
time with only a few new subjects introduced (e.g. mining law). The national movement
demanding equality between Czech and German brought about the requirement to teach
the subjects, on which the state examination is taken in both languages. Although this
requirement was not fully implemented, Austrian general private law was taught in both
languages from 1849. Law students were actively involved in the events of 1848, when
classes were suspended from May to December. A very active professor of criminal law
was Jan Koppel, who was even elected to the Moravian Provincial Diet. However, the
events of 1848 had an impact on the later fate of the university. In 1851, first the faculty
of arts was abolished and then the faculty of law, which was abolished by an imperial de-
cree of 10 August 1855. Law professors were transferred to other universities. The only
faculty not abolished was the faculty of theology. Efforts to re-establish the University
of Olomouc were re-appearing later on, but did not come to fruition until 1946, albeit
excluding the faculty of law. The faculty of law was finally restored in 19913,
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